provided by Syracuse University Res

Syracuse University

SURFACE

Syracuse University Honors Program Capstone Syracuse University Honors Program Capstone Projects

Spring 5-1-2012

Does Vibrational Loading Modulate the Effects of Radiotherapy on Growing Bone?

Samantha Hay

Follow this and additional works at: https://surface.syr.edu/honors_capstone

Part of the Other Biochemistry, Biophysics, and Structural Biology Commons

Recommended Citation

Hay, Samantha, "Does Vibrational Loading Modulate the Effects of Radiotherapy on Growing Bone?" (2012). *Syracuse University Honors Program Capstone Projects*. 142. https://surface.syr.edu/honors_capstone/142

This Honors Capstone Project is brought to you for free and open access by the Syracuse University Honors Program Capstone Projects at SURFACE. It has been accepted for inclusion in Syracuse University Honors Program Capstone Projects by an authorized administrator of SURFACE. For more information, please contact surface@syr.edu.

Does Vibrational Loading Modulate the Effects of Radiotherapy on Growing Bone?

A Capstone Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements of the Renée Crown University Honors Program at Syracuse University

> Samantha Hay Candidate for Bachelor of Arts Degree and Renée Crown University Honors May 2012

Honors Capstone Project in Biophysical Science

Capstone Project Advisor:

Professor Joseph Spadaro, Ph.D.

Capstone Project Reader:

Professor Cristina Marchetti, Ph.D.

Honors Director:

Stephen Kuusisto, Director

Date: April 25, 2012

Abstract

Radiotherapy is an important part of cancer therapy, used in addition to surgery for treatment of patients with soft tissue sarcomas, and alternatively for treatment of patients with Ewing sarcoma of bone. Treating pediatric extremity tumors with radiotherapy has been shown to have harmful effects on the epiphyseal plate, resulting in permanent limb shortening and deformity when bone growth centers are exposed to radiation. Mechanical signals, specifically low-magnitude high-frequency vibrations (LMHFV), have been shown to be noninvasive and non-pharmacological growth factors in bone that have the potential to serve as a safe treatment for a number of clinical conditions. Thus, this study was aimed at evaluating the possible beneficial effects of low-magnitude highfrequency mechanical vibration (LMHFV) stimuli on growing irradiated bone and the possibility for restoration of function of the epiphyseal plate, a research topic that has never before been published in the literature.

Eighteen 3-week old weanling male Sprague-Dawley rats were subjected to a standard radiation dose of 17.5 Gray applied to right hind limbs, with the contralateral leg serving as a non-irradiated control. Then, the animals were divided into three groups: A) rats subjected to (LMHFV) only at 45 Hz, 0.3 g for 20 minutes once per day, 7 days/week, for 3 weeks, B) rats subjected the same conditions of LMHFV plus an injection of spermine NONOate, a nitric oxide donor that that has shown weak positive results as post-irradiation recovery agent, and C) rats subjected to sham LMHFV. After euthanizing the animals, skeletal growth was measured by x-ray analysis, marrow mesenchymal stem cell osteoblastic potential was measured by CFU-F analysis, and bone morphology was measured by micro-CT analysis.

X-ray and CFU-F analyses show statistically significant differences between right and left limbs in all groups. No statistical significance was observed between vibration versus control groups, but trends suggest there could be some positive effect of vibration, although not statistically significant. Micro-CT results show a clear difference between right and left limbs in all groups. Regarding vibration versus control groups, micro-CT results are ambiguous, but do suggest that vibration may have altered local growth characteristics and stimulated local shape changes in the 20% region from the distal end of the femur, just above the growth plate.

Despite the number of positive reports of LMHFV on bone, the present study did not reveal a clear, statistically significant effect on growth, structure or MSC colony formation. Thus, the effects of vibrational loading on irradiated growing bone are still unclear. Findings in this paper suggest that LMHFV may have a subtle positive effect, but this cannot be said with any statistical certainty. More studies on the effects of LMHFV on irradiated growing bone are needed to delineate the findings of this paper.

© (Samantha Hay: April 25, 2012)

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	iv

Brief Literature Review of Other Vibration Studies	1
Osteoporosis	1
Other Bone-Related Healing	2
Non-Bone-Related Healing	3
Introduction	4
Radiotherapy	4
Growth and Vibration	4
This Experiment	5
Materials and Methods	7
Experimental Design	7
X-ray Analysis	9
CFU-F Analysis	10
Micro-CT Analysis	11
Results	12
Effect of LMHFV on Body Mass by Weight	12
Skeletal Growth by X-ray	12
Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells Osteoblastic Potential by CFU-F	12
Bone Morphology by Micro-CT	13
Discussion	16
Overall Effects of LMHFV on Skeletal Growth and Marrow MSCs	
Osteoblastic Potential	16
Overall Effects of LMHFV on Bone Morphology	16
Other Studies in the Literature Show No Anabolic Properties	
Associated With Vibration	18
Factors Influencing Effects of Vibration	19
A Note on Mechanisms of Mechanical Loading	20
Suggested Further Study	22
Supplemental Figures	23

References	37
Summary of Capstone Project	43

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank Professor Joseph A. Spadaro, my Capstone advisor and Research Professor in the Department of Orthopedic Surgery at the Musculoskeletal Science Research Center at Upstate Medical University, for taking me on as an undergraduate researcher and tirelessly guiding me through my project to its completion. I would also like to thank other members of the Damron lab at the Musculoskeletal Science Research Center at Upstate Medical University, including Professor Megan Oest, Professor Ken Mann, Professor Bryan Margulies, and Sean Deboyace for their help with experimental methods and data analysis. Thank you to Professor Oest for teaching me how to use the Scanco-40 micro-CT machine, Professor Mann for teaching me how to use Image-J and Bone-J software to analyze my micro-CT results, and Bryan Margulies and Sean Deboyace for guiding me through their method of employing the CFU-F assay for my experiment, and teaching me how to analyze the findings.

At Syracuse University, I would like to thank Professor Cristina Marchetti, Professor of Physics, for agreeing to be my honors reader. Also, I would like to thank my fellow Honors student and designated Capstone partner in action, Firdaus Arastu, for lending moral support as we both pushed through the highs and lows to the completion of our projects. Finally, I would like to thank my mom for always supporting my dreams and encouraging me to do my very best each and every day.

v

Brief Literature Review of Other Vibration Studies

Osteoporosis

Mechanical signals, specifically low-magnitude high-frequency vibrations (LMHFV), have been shown to be non-invasive and non-pharmacological growth factors in bone that have the potential to serve as a safe treatment for a number of clinical conditions¹. Several studies have shown the potential enhancement properties of mechanical vibration stimuli when applied to bone in patients with osteoporosis. In the aging population, low-magnitude high-frequency vibration (LMHFV) has shown to have potential health benefits of improving coordination, strength, and movement speed², as well as improving balance and mobility in nursing home residents with limited functional dependency³. In postmenopausal women, vibration training was shown to improve muscle strength and significantly increase bone mineral density (BMD) and bone metabolism, suggesting use as a possible deterrent to osteoporosis in older women^{2,4}. LMHFV was also shown to effectively inhibit bone loss in the spine and femur of postmenopausal women⁵. In an adult female sheep population, LMHFV was shown to improve both the quantity and quality of trabecular bone^{6,7}. In addition, LMHFV has been shown to improve bone healing, strength and mass, as well as muscle strength, in ovariectomized rats⁸⁻¹⁴, as well as rats treated with glucocorticoids¹⁵. LMHFV has been shown to promote fracture healing in

osteoporotic bone by enhancing callus formation, remodeling and mineralization in ovariectomized rats¹⁶, as well as enhance bone-to-implant osseointegration in ovariectomized rats¹⁷. All of these findings provide a basis for use of mechanical vibration stimuli as a deterrent to osteoporosis in the elderly.

Other Bone-Related Healing

Additionally, LMHFV has been shown to accelerate fracture healing by enhancing bone remodeling and accelerating callus formation and mineralization, which have potential for improving fracture outcome clinically^{16,18}. In an adult female mouse population, as well as an adult sheep population subjected to hindlimb unloading, application of LMHFV was shown to significantly increase the density of the spongy trabecular bone in the proximal femur^{18,19}. Similarly, LMHFV has been found to preserve the marrow environment during disuse and enhance the initiation of tissue recovery upon reambulation^{20,21}. In young women with low body mass density, LMHFV has been shown to increase bone and muscle mass in the axial skeleton and lower extremities²². In older men with agerelated loss of skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia), WBV training was shown to increase knee extension strength and muscle mass in the upper leg, with the potential to prevent or reverse sarcopenia²³. In addition, LMHFV was found to restore anabolic bone cell activity inhibited by disuse by restricting increases in bone resorption, increasing bone formation, and reducing bone loss, with the potential to be applied to patients on bed rest or immobilized by several

degenerative conditions^{24,25}. Another study showed that LMHFV can significantly increase the healing capacity of a bony lesion, even in non-weight bearing bone of the cranioskeleton²⁶. In addition, LMHFV was found to stimulate peri-implant bone healing and osseointegration, with potential orthodontic benefits^{27,28}. LMHFV enhances adaptive remodeling on condylar cartilage as well, which was evidenced by endochondral bone replacing hypertrophic cartilage²⁹. These findings show that non-invasive vibrational stimulus may have potential for treating skeletal and muscle conditions.

Non-Bone-Related Healing

Interestingly, a study of the effects of LMHFV to tissues found that LMHFV was an anabolic stimulus to tendons, with similar effects demonstrated to its effects on bone and muscle, opening the potential that LMHFV may serve as a means to accelerate tendon healing³⁰. LMHFV was also shown to enhance osseous regenerative processes, particularly in the presence of a supporting scaffold³¹. Thus, the anabolic properties of mechanical vibration stimuli can also be applied to tendon healing and connective tissue regeneration, in addition to osteoporosis deterrence, fracture healing, muscle strengthening, orthodontics and craniofacial repair.

Introduction

Radiotherapy

Radiotherapy is an important part of cancer therapy, used in addition to surgery for treatment of patients with soft tissue sarcomas, and alternatively for treatment of patients with Ewing sarcoma of bone. Treating pediatric extremity tumors with radiotherapy has been shown to have harmful effects on the epiphyseal plate, resulting in permanent limb shortening and deformity when bone growth centers are exposed to radiation³²⁻⁷.

Growth and Vibration

Children who undergo radiation treatment for cancer are at similar risk as adults with osteoporosis and stress fractures for a decrease in bone density, but at the same time, the epiphyseal plate is also affected, so not only is bone density effected, but also bone growth. Young mice exposed to extremely LMHFV were found to have improved quality in their musculoskeletal systems, with beneficial structural changes in trabecular bone, cortical bone, and muscle³⁸. Also in the growing skeleton, short daily periods of extremely LMHFV were found to inhibit trabecular bone resorption, site specifically ease the declining levels of bone formation, and maintain a high level of matrix quality³⁹. Children between the

ages of six to nine with motor disabilities subjected to daily high-frequency lowmagnitude vibration witnessed improved bone mass and muscle strength with no side effects⁴⁰. In post-pubertal disabled, ambulant children, high-frequency mechanical stimuli was found to be anabolic to trabecular bone growth as well⁴¹. Children with cerebral palsy, who have decreased strength, low bone mass and an increased propensity to fracture, were also found to benefit from LMHFV, specifically by increased cortical bone area and strength, which could translate into a decreased risk of long bone fractures in some patients⁴². These findings together all point to future implications for non-pharmacological and safe means to increase bone mass in children.

This Experiment

In an effort to reduce the stunting of normal growth that can accompany radiotherapy in children, the use of mechanical vibration stimuli is being explored. A thorough review of the literature has shown that vibration has never been studied in this capacity. Chondrocytes, the cells responsible for growth in the epiphyseal plate, are somewhat damaged by radiation, but continue to perform at a reduced level after radiation. Radiation damage of growth plate chondrocytes causes premature growth arrest and limb length shortening in children who undergo radiotherapy for malignant tumors⁴³⁻⁷. It has been shown that mechanical loading regulates the proliferation and differentiation of growth plate

activate the cellular and biochemical responses of the cranial base growth plate (CBGP)⁴⁹. Bone morphology, cellularity, growth plate height, and growth rate have all been shown to be negatively affected in irradiated animal models⁴³⁻⁷. Thus, in this study, we examined the possible beneficial effects of low-magnitude high-frequency mechanical vibration stimuli on growing irradiated bone and the possibility for restoration of function of the epiphyseal plate.

Materials and Methods

Experimental Design

All experimental procedures were reviewed and approved by SUNY Upstate Medical University's Committee for the Human Use of Animals. Eighteen 3-week old weanling male Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Taconic Farms (Germantown, NY) and randomly divided into three groups: A) rats subjected to low-magnitude high-frequency vibration (LMHFV) only at 45 Hz, 0.3 g for 20 minutes once per day, 7 days/week, for 3 weeks, B) rats subjected to LMHFV with the same conditions as group A plus an injection of spermine NONOate, a nitric oxide donor that showed weak positive results as postirradiation recovery agent in previous experiments by the Spadaro lab (not published) and others⁵⁰, and C) rats subjected to sham LMHFV, placed in cages used for vibration but with no stimulus applied.

After a 7-day quarantine period following delivery, a standard rat irradiation model was used on all eighteen SD weanling rats, with a radiation dose applied to the right hind limb and the contralateral leg serving as a non-irradiated control. Weanling rats were anesthetized using a Ketamine-Zylazine cocktail (80mg/kg). Then, the right hind limb was extended across a target area, such that the right knee joint crossed the middle of the target field, and legs were secured with masking tape. Lead shielding was placed around the rest of the animal. The positioning plate was raised to a 30cm source-to-target distance and the light beam was collimated to approximate the 2cm x 6cm radiation field inscribed on the positioning plate. A single fraction 17.5 Gray (300kV, 10mA) radiation field was applied to include the distal half of the femur through the mid-tibia for 7 minutes, 25 seconds. Two animals were irradiated at once, and Plexiglas sheets 0.75 inches thick were placed under the thin Plexiglas to support standardized scatter. A warming pad was placed under the Plexiglas to help maintain animal body temperature during exposure. Yohobine reversal was used as needed to clear the anesthesia (0.05mL dose). For group B, two injections of spermine NONOate were given (2.4 mg/kg dose, 240μ g/animal total), one an hour following radiation, and another three hours after the first. Spermine NONOate (A.G. Scientific) was given intending to stimulate cell survival during the early phase of recovery. Rats were housed three per cage and free access to a standard rodent chow and water administered by animal care technicians.

Once a day, rats were transferred to a Plexiglas cage without any bedding to prevent dampening of the mechanical signal. Sham LMHFV animals were transferred to identical cages as LMHFV groups for the same period daily, but the stimulus was not activated. Containers holding LMHFV rats were placed on a vibration platform (JUVENT) along with 20 pounds of weight to produce a vertical displacement of 50 micron (0.3 g) at a frequency of 45 Hz for 20 minutes per day for 3 weeks after radiation exposure. Two JUVENT Platforms were graciously loaned from Professor Ken McLeod at SUNY Binghamton. These platforms and perimeters have been used in many animal studies of mechanical effects on bone and muscle and as a method of treating osteoporosis and bone loss in microgravity during spaceflight, but never to study bone growth⁵¹⁻⁵³. Treated cages were alternated between the two platforms to be certain that they received the same stimulus on average during the experiment, and rats were allowed to freely roam the cages during these 20 minutes. No qualitative differences in behavior or activity patterns were observed between groups. Hair loss on the right leg was observed in all animals during week 5 after radiation, attributable to radiation. Body weights were recorded just prior to irradiation and weekly until at euthanasia at 6 weeks. Animals were euthanized using carbon dioxide narcosis, and death was verified by the absence of a cardiac pulse.

X-ray Analysis

Hind limbs were isolated by removal at the hip joint, and digital x-rays of both hind limbs were taken immediately using the Faxitron Model FX-20 as the x-ray source and then the Agfa CR-30RX digital plate system to record the images. Limbs were positioned with knee and ankle joints in 90° flexion, placed on clear film and upon the imager with lead identifiers for left and right limbs as well as calibration. Image-J software was used then used to open the x-ray images and measure femur and tibia lengths for all animals. Means, standard deviations (SD), and standard error of the means (SEM) were calculated in Excel, and paired two-tailed *t*-tests were performed between right and left femora and tibias of all groups as well as Anova test comparisons between mean femora and tibia lengths of different groups using Prism software. All data is expressed here as means ± SD (n=6 for each group).

CFU-F Analysis

Following euthanasia and X-rays, bulk musculature was removed with clean handling. Then, three sets of femora from each group were placed in cold DMEM culture medium with added antimicotics and 10% calf serum, for short storage to preserve for colony-forming-unit-fibroblasts (CFU-F) analysis, and the other three sets of femora from each group were frozen for later micro-CT examination. A CFU-F assay measures the osteogenic potential of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) is an early marker that is necessary for osteoblast expression. After removing from preservation media, marrow from the femora preserved for CFU-F analysis was flushed in fresh medium by removing both bone ends of the femora. Then, cells were counted and diluted so that aliquots of 1 million cells each were added to 6 well plates (3 plates per specimen) in growth medium. After 9 days of incubation at 37°C, plates were assayed for ALP, and the portion of colonies expressing the osteoblastic phenotype (ALP+) were counted against those not expressing ALP (ALP-) by using the EPSON scanner to create images of the plates, open images with Image-J, and counting cells with the cell counter plug-in in order to determine the osteogenic potential of bone marrow cells derived from femora of the different experimental groups⁵⁴. Means \pm SD were expressed (n=3 for each

group) for ALP positive and negative colonies as well as total colonies for right versus left femora of different groups.

Micro-CT Analysis

Bone morphology of one set of femora from each group was reconstructed via micro-CT at a voxel size of $30 \ \mu m$ (Scanco-40). Transverse slices were made over the entire bone length, with sets of femur pairs scanned at the same time. Files were later transferred to a high capacity computer and analyzed using Image-J software with a Bone-J plug-in⁵⁵. Slice Geometry measurements of crosssectional area (CSA), second moment of area around major and minor axes (Imax, Imin), minimum and maximum diameters of the bone shaft (Min Diameter, Max Diameter), and perimeter (Perimeter) were taken. Second moment of area around major and minor axes (Imax, Imin) measure the strength of bending about the major and minor axes. Larger values translate to more resistance to bending and stronger bones. Slice numbers were normalized to percentages in order to compare different groups, with a focus on 50 slices at the regions 20% and 30% as measured from the distal end (n=1 for each group).

Results

Effect of LMHFV on Body Mass by Weight

The mean body weight of the three groups was ~89.2 g at the beginning of the study. All three groups gained similar amounts of body mass (315-335%, P < 0.01) to reach an average of 378 g at the end of the 7-week experimental period, with no significant differences detected between groups (Figure 1).

Skeletal Growth by X-ray

A consistent statistically significant difference of $14.2\% \pm 7.9\%$ between right and left femora and tibias was observed in all groups (P < 0.01, Figure 2, Figure 3). No statistical significance was found between femora and tibias of different groups (P > 0.05), but there was possibly a difference, although not statistically significant, between right femora of different groups (A: 32.6 ± 2.3 vs. B: 31.9 ± 2.2 vs. C: 31.2 ± 1.2 , Figure 2), as well as total leg lengths of the femur plus the tibia between different groups (A: 66.4 ± 2.4 vs. B: 65.3 ± 2.9 vs. C: 64.4 ± 2.1 , Figure 4).

Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells Osteoblastic Potential by CFU-F

A consistent statistically significant difference of B: $63.6\% \pm 28\%$ and C: 72.3% ± 34% was observed between ALP-Positive (ALP+) cell counts (CFU-F Assay) between right and left femora of groups B and C, with left femur counts much higher than right femur counts in both groups (B: *P* < 0.05, C: *P* < 0.01). ALP-Negative (ALP-) and total colony counts observed the same trend. No statistical significance was found between femora of different groups (*P* > 0.05), but there was possibly a difference, although not statistically significant, between the number of ALP+ colonies counted in samples from right femora of groups B and group C (3.0 ± 2.6 vs. 2.11±2.1, Figure 5, Figure 6). Group A measurements are not detailed here because the assay did not work.

Bone Morphology by Micro-CT

Quantitative Measurements. NOTE: The following analysis is tentative and based on the bones of only one animal per group that could be analyzed. For 20% measurements from the distal end of the femur, right femur CSA measurements increased from group A to group C, with a 13.2% increase from group A to group B and a 12.3% increase from group B to group C (Figure 7). 20% Imax and Imin measurements observed the same trend, with a 17.0% increase from group A to group B and a 13.8% increase from group B to group C in Imax right femur measurements, a 5.35% increase from group A to group B and a 12.9% increase from group B to group C in Imin right femur measurements (Figure 9, Figure 11). Left femur CSA measurements at the 20% region were notably lower than the right femur measurements in each group by an average of 21.0% (Figure 7). 20% Imax and Imin measurements observed the same trend, with left femur Imax measurements an average of 15.2% lower than right femur Imax measurements, and left femur Imin measurements an average of 23.2% lower than right femur Imin measurements (Figure 9, Figure 11). For the 30% CSA measurements, right and left femur measurements evened out (Figure 8).

For 30% Imax and Imin measurements, an inverse relationship to 20% measurements was observed, as right femur Imax measurements were notably lower than the right femur measurements in each group (from A to C) in the 30% region by an average of 21.5% in Imax measurements and an average of 22.0% in Imin measurements (Figure 10, Figure 12). For 20% Min Diameter and Perimeter measurements left femurs were slightly lower than right femurs in all groups, by an average of 8.90% in Min Diameter measurements and an average of 16.6% in Perimeter measurements (Figure 13, Figure 17). For 30% Min Diameter, Max Diameter and Perimeter measurements, the opposite trend was observed, as right femurs were slightly lower than left femurs by averages of 6.48%, 7.23%, and 8.19%, respectively, in all groups (Figure 14, Figure 16, Figure 18). Most notably of all measurements, for 20% Max Diameter measurements right and left femur diameters from groups A and B were much larger than right and left femur diameters from group C (A Left, Right: 5.92, 6.04, and B L,R: 6.05, 6.28 vs. C L,R: 4.58, 5.03, Figure 15). The difference between 20% Max Diameter measurements of groups A and B and group C are visibly significant.

Qualitative Image Observations. Clear differences can be see between right and left femurs of full bone images and graphs of left versus right variable analyses (CSA, Imax, Imin, Min Diameter, Max Diameter, Perimeter) normalized to percentages (Figure 19, Figure 20, Figure 21). Looking at 20% slices for left and right femora between all three groups shows much denser trabecular bone in right femora than left femora in all groups (Figure 22). Trabecular bone also appears to be coarser in texture in right femora of all groups than left femora. In addition, bone shape appears different between left and right femora at 20% cuts. Between different groups, trabecular bone density appears to increase from group A to group C proportionally in both left and right femora. Looking at 30% slices for left and right femora between all groups trabecular bone density is greatly decreased from the 20% cuts (Figure 23). Trabecular bone can still be seen in all right femora and only slightly in the Group C left femur. Shape of bone cuts are much more uniform in 30% slices than in 20% slices. 20% and 30% cut observations can also be seen in full bone images looking at 20% and 30% areas from the distal end (Figure 19, Figure 20, Figure 21).

Discussion

Overall Effects of LMHFV on Skeletal Growth and Marrow MSCs Osteoblastic Potential

Despite the number of positive reports of LMHFV on bone, the present study did not reveal a clear effect on growth, structure or MSC colony formation. Although no statistical significance was found in x-ray or CFU-F data between vibrated and non-vibrated groups, trends were observed in both measurements that suggest vibration may have had a small positive effect on skeletal growth and marrow MSCs osteoblastic potential that was simply not statistically significant. Given this finding, perhaps more animals (greater than n=6) were needed to see such subtle effects.

Overall Effects of LMHFV on Bone Morphology

Micro-CT data is much more dense and less clear than x-ray and CFU-F measurements. First of all, definite conclusions cannot be drawn because only one femur set from each group was analyzed using micro-CT. More sets of femora are needed from each group to substantiate initial findings. Another difficulty of the micro-CT analysis is exact anatomical positional matches between right and left femora were hard to make because of the complexity of growth that resulted from

radiated limbs versus non-irradiated limbs. This problem notwithstanding, data from right and left femora was normalized to percentages and tentative conclusions were drawn by comparing matched percentages of total bone length.

Looking at 20% slice CSA data analysis and 20% slices from left and right limbs of groups A, B and C, there is much more trabecular bone area in right femora, which most likely accounts for the greater CSA measured in the right limbs compared to the left limbs. Also looking at the 20% cut images, trabecular bone areas for left legs appear to be the same, so it appears that cortical bone area decreased from group C to group A, given that CSA measurements shows a decrease from group C femora to group A femora. Imin and Imax data are most influenced by cortical bone. Imax and Imin 20% measurements mirror the trends observed in CSA data, supporting the conclusion that cortical bone area is decreased in the vibration groups compared to the control. At 30% slices, trends observed in CSA, Imax and Imin are reversed – the left femora have greater Imax and Imin measurements than the right femora for all groups. These data suggests that radiation dominates in the 30% region, and thus, right limb measurements were smaller than left limb measurements. Given that 30% slices show that outer diameters of right bones are smaller than left bones, it makes sense that Imax and Imin measurements would be greater for left limbs than right limbs. At the same time, given that trabecular bone is much more apparent in right femora than left femora, it makes sense that 30% cuts of CSA are about the same between right and left limbs and all groups. Interestingly, 20% Max Diameter measurements show much higher diameters for both left and right femora in groups A and B

than group C, suggesting that vibration may have altered local growth characteristics and stimulated local shape changes by vibration. These changes may just be local and not reflected throughout the entire bone. Differences in perimeter measurements between left and right limbs at 20% and 30% slices suggest a shape change associated with radiation. More animals and more detailed micro-CT analysis is needed.

Other Studies in the Literature Show No Anabolic Properties Associated With Vibration

It is noteworthy that although the majority of the literature shows positive effects on bone associated with vibration therapies, a number of studies have shown no anabolic properties associated with mechanical vibration stimuli, and one study even concluded that whole body vibration (WBV) therapy is potentially harmful to the human body⁵⁶. Low-amplitude WBV was shown to increase lower-leg bone mineral content (BMC) after 7 months but not after 22 months in mice, showing that the potential of WBV to enhance bone mass in age-related osteoporosis was not supported, but improvement of BMC was supported in younger animals⁵⁷. Also, LMHFV was shown to be effective in improving musculoskeletal tissues in ovariectomized rats, but was not optimal for fracture healing⁵⁸. Similarly, six weeks of LMHFV on ovariectomized rats was found to have no substantial effect on tibial bone microstructure and strength⁵⁹, and 12 months of WBV therapy did not alter BMD or bone structure in postmenopausal

women who received calcium and vitamin D supplementation⁶⁰. In constrained tibial vibration (CTV) studies, high-frequency low-amplitude CTV loading of mice was not anabolic to bone in anesthetized, adult mice⁶¹. Parathyroid hormone (PTH) was studied in conjunction with WBV, and it was found that intermittent PTH treatment increased cortical bone volume and strength in adult mice, but daily exposure to low-magnitude WBV by itself did not improve skeletal properties⁶². Also, short-term low-strain vibration was shown to increase chemotransport, but did not stimulate an increase in mechano-responsive, osteogenic gene expression, or cortical bone formation in tibias of adult mice⁶³. It was also found that LMHFV did not enhance the osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), but rather, inhibited matrix mineralization and decreased the mRNA level of a transcription factor necessary for osteoblast formation, showing that LMHFV may exert its anabolic effects in vivo via mechanosensing of a cell type other than MSCs⁶⁴.

Factors Influencing Effects of Vibration

These varying findings related to mechanical vibration stimuli are likely attributable to the fact that the ability of physical signals to influence bone morphology is strongly dependent on the signal's magnitude, frequency and duration¹. All of the above-mentioned experiments were conducted within the perimeters of 30-90 Hz frequencies, 0.1-4 g magnitudes, and anywhere from an hour to a year of treatment. These varying signal and exposure characteristics are likely the reason for discrepancies in findings. In vivo experiments excluded, the best results were overwhelmingly witnessed with a 30-60 Hz vibration frequency and a magnitude of 0.3 g^{6,7,9,11,15,16,18,26-30,38,39,42,47,65,66}. As far as duration goes, experimental designs were varied, but for LMHFV studied with rat and mouse models over time, LMHFV exposure of 15-30 minutes per day, daily or 5 days per week for 4-8 weeks were uniform bounds for experiments that received positive results^{2,8,10,13,15,16,18,30,42,49,57,59,66}. This experiment was in the beneficial range of such parameters. Thus, the results were surprising, despite the fact that LMHFV does not appear to have been tested previously in the case of irradiated bone.

A Note on Mechanisms of Mechanical Loading

An improved understanding of which components of bone's mechanical environment are anabolic, catabolic, or anti-catabolic will allow the development of biomechanical interventions in the areas, including orthodontics, craniofacial repair, osteoporosis and fracture healing. Much of the clinical evidence that mechanical forces are anabolic to bone has come from exercise studies performed in the last century¹. Studies have shown that sporting activities of any kind cause the body to experience eternally applied forces, inducing vibrations and oscillations within the tissues of the body, whether it be impact shocks experienced through the leg during running when the heel hits the ground or more continuous tissue vibrations experienced for example through the legs during skiing down a slope⁶⁷. Studies have clearly shown that bone morphology can change strikingly in response to long-term exercise¹. The effects of LMHFV in the body are thought to be analogous to the effects of exercise, but the mechanism by which mechanical signals become anabolic or anti-catabolic to bone are mostly unidentified. There is debate as to whether the mechanical input received by bones originates from ground reaction forces produced by the skeleton or from muscle activity.

Osteocytes are now thought to be the major mechanosensor in bone, responsible for sending signals to osteoblasts and osteoclasts, which carry out bone formation and resorption⁶⁴. The prevailing view of bone mechanobiology is that osteocytes are responsible for detecting and responding to mechanical loading and initiating the bone adaptation process, but how osteocytes signal effector cells and initiate bone turnover is not well understood⁶⁸. Osteocytes were found to sense LMHFV and respond by producing soluble factors that inhibit osteoclast formation⁶⁹. Additional mechanical loading was shown to decrease the osteocyte's potential to induce osteoclast formation by direct cell-cell contact, and mechanically stimulated osteocytes to release soluble factors that can inhibit osteoclastogenesis induced by other supporting cells, including bone marrow stromal cells⁶⁸. A study testing the effects of LMHFV on proliferation and osteodifferentiation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (BMSCs) seeded on human bone-derived scaffolds found that microvibration promotes BMSC differentiation and increases bone formation of BMSCs by increasing their osteogenic lineage commitment and enhancing osteogenic gene expressions⁷⁰. A

21

study of the changes in the mRNA levels of thirteen genes compared to altered indices of bone formation in the presence of LMHFV confirmed the complexity of the bone remodeling process, in terms of the number of genes involved, their interaction and coordination of resorptive and formative activity. More detailed analysis of the correlations between altered mRNA levels and tissue plasticity is needed to further delineate the molecules responsible for the control of bone mass and morphology⁶⁵.

Suggested Further Study

Given the findings of this paper, the effects of vibrational loading on irradiated growing bone are still unclear. Findings in this paper suggest that LMHFV may have a subtle positive effect, but this cannot be said with any statistical certainty. In future studies, more animals in each group are needed to determine whether vibrational loading can enhance bone growth in irradiated growing bone in a statistically significant manner. Also, more detailed micro-CT analysis including many more femora sets, and analysis of trabecular versus cortical bone areas are needed in order to delineate potential findings of this paper. Further study regarding the mechanism by which vibrational loading stimulates bone growth is also suggested in order to devise more standard, efficient experimental designs. **Supplemental Figures**























Group









Figure 19: Images of Group A Left and Right Femurs Aligned With CSA Graph of Data Along the Bones.

Image 1: Group A Left Femur Image 2: Group A Right Femur



*Similar graphs were produced for Group A Imax, Imin, Min Diameter, Max Diameter and Perimeter measurements but are not shown here.

Figure 20: Images of Group B Left and Right Femurs Aligned With CSA Graph of Data Along the Bones. Top Image: Group B Left Femur

Bottom Image: Group B Right Femur



*Similar graphs were produced for Group B Imax, Imin, Min Diameter, Max Diameter and Perimeter measurements but are not shown here.

Figure 21: Images of Group C Left and Right Femurs Aligned With CSA Graph of Data Along the Bones. Top Image: Group C Left Femur

Bottom Image: Group C Right Femur



*Similar graphs were produced for Group C Imax, Imin, Min Diameter, Max Diameter and Perimeter measurements but are not shown here.

Figure 22: Images of 20% Bone Slices of Left and Right Femora from Groups A, B and C.

*Columns from left: Group A, Group B, Group C **Rows from top: Left femur, Right femur



Figure 23: Images of 30% Bone Slices of Left and Right Femora from Groups A, B and C.

*Columns from left: Group A, Group B, Group C **Rows from top: Left femur, Right femur



References

- 1. Judex S, Gupta S, Rubin C. Regulation of mechanical signals in bone. *Orthod Craniofac Res* 2009;12:94-104.
- 2. Verschueren SM, Roelants M, Delecluse C, Swinnen S, Vanderschueren D, Boonen S. Effect of 6-month whole body vibration training on hip density, muscle strength, and ostural control in postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled pilot study. *J Bone Miner Res* 2004;19(3):352-9.
- 3. Bautmans I, Van Hees E, Lemper JC, Mets T. The feasibility of whole body vibration in institutionalized elderly persons and its influence on muscle performance, balance and mobility: randomized controlled trial. *BMC Geriatr* 2005;5:17.
- 4. Bemben DA, Palmer IJ, Bemben MG, Knehans AW. Effects of combined whole-body vibration and resistance training on muscular strength and bone metabolism in postmenopausal women. *Bone* 2010;47:650-6.
- 5. Rubin C, Recker R, Cullen D, Ryaby J, McCabe J, McLeod K. Prevention of postmenopausal bone loss by a low-magnitude, high-frequency mechanical stimuli: a clinical trial assessing compliance, efficacy and safety. *J Bone Miner Res* 2004;19(3):343-51.
- 6. Rubin C, Turner AS, Bain S, et al. Anabolism. Low mechanical signals strengthen long bones. *Nature* 2001;412:603-4.
- 7. Rubin C, Turner AS, Muller R, et al. Quantity and quality of trabecular bone in the femur are enhanced by a strongly anabolic, noninvasive mechanical intervention. *J Bone Miner Res* 2002;17(2):349-57.
- 8. Flieger J, Karachalios T, Khaldi L, Raptou P, Lyritis G. Mechanical stimulation in the form of vibration prevents postmenopausal bone loss in ovariectomized rats. *Calcif Tissue Int* 1998;63(6):510-4.
- 9. Ma R, Zhu D, Gong H, Huang X, Gao JZ, Zhang X. High-frequency and low-magnitude whole body vibration with rest days is more effective in improving skeletal micro-morphology and biochemical properties in ovariectomized rodents. *Hip Int* 2012;14.
- Oxlund BS, Ortoft G, Andreassen TT, Oxlund H. Low-intensity, highfrequency vibration appears to prevent the decrease in strength of the femur and tibia associated with ovariectomy of adult rats. *Bone* 2003;32(1):69-77.
- 11. Rubinacci A, Marenzana M, Cavani F, et al. Ovariectomy sensitizes rat cortical bone to whole-body vibration. *Calcified Tissue Internatnional* 2008;82:316-26.
- 12. Sehmisch S, Galal R, Kolios, L, et al. Effects of low-magnitude, high-frequency mechanical stimulation in the rat osteopenia model. *Osteoporos Int* 2009:20(12):1999-2008.

- Shi HF, Cheung WH, Qin L, Leung AH, Leung KS. Low-magnitude highfrequency vibration treatment augments fracture healing in ovariectomyinduced osteoporotic bone. *Bone* 2010;46(5):1299-305.
- Tezval M, Biblis M, Sehmisch S, et al. Improvement of femoral bone quality after low-magnitude, high-frequency mechanical stimulation in the ovariectomized rat as an osteopenia model. *Calcif Tissue Int* 2011;88(1):33-40.
- 15. de Oliveira ML, Bergamaschi CT, Silva OL, et al. Mechanical vibration preserves bone structure in rats treated with glucocorticoids. *Bone* 2010;46:1516-21.
- 16. Chow DH, Leung KS, Qin L, Leung AH, Cheung WH. Low-magnitude high-frequency vibration (LMHFV) enhances bone remodeling in osteoporotic rat femoral fracture healing. J Orthop Res 2011;29(5):746-52.
- 17. Chen B, Li Y, Xie D, Yang X. Low-magnitude high-frequency loading via whole body vibration enhances bone-implant osseointegration in ovariectomized rats. *J Orthop Res* 2011.
- 18. Leung KS, Shi HF, Cheung WH, et al. Low-magnitude high-frequency vibration accelerates callus formation, mineralization, and fracture healing in rats. *J Orthop Res* 2009 27(4):458-65.
- 19. Ozcivici E, Garman R, Judex S. High-frequency oscillatory motions enhance the simulated mechanical properties of non-weight bearing trabecular bone. *J Biomech* 2007;40(15):3401-11.
- 20. Ozcivici E, Luu YK, Rubin CT, Judex S. Low-level vibrations retain bone marrow's osteogenic potential and augment recovery of trabecular bone during reambulation. *PLoS ONE* 2010;5.
- 21. Garmen R, Gaudette G, Donahue LR, Rubin C, Judex S. Low-level accelerations applied in the absence of weight bearing can enhance trabecular bone formation. *J Orthop Res* 2007;25(6):732-40.
- 22. Gilsanz V, Wren TA, Sanchez M, et al. Low-level, high-frequency mechanical signals enhance musculoskeletal development of young women with low BMD. *J Bone Miner Res* 2006;21:1464-74.
- 23. Bogaerts A, Delecluse C, Claessens Al, Coudyzer W, Boonen S, Verschueren SM. Impact of whole-body vibration training versus fitness training on muscle strength and muscle mass in older men: a 1-year randomized controlled trial. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2007;62(2):630-5.
- 24. Armbrecht G, Belavy DL, Gast U, et al. Resistive vibration exercise attenuates bone and muscle atrophy is 56 days of bed rest: biochemical markers of bone metabolism. *Osteoporosis International* 2010;21:597-607.
- 25. Rubin C, Xu G, Judex S. The anabolic activity of bone tissue, suppressed by disuse, is normalized by brief exposure to extremely low-magnitude mechanical stimuli. *FASEB J* 2001;15(12):2225-9.

- 26. Omar H, Shen G, Jones AS, Zoellner H, Petocz P, Darendeliler MA. Effect of low magnitude and high frequency mechanical stimuli on defects healing in cranial bones. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 2008;66(6):1104-11.
- 27. Ogawa T, Possemiers T, Zhang X, et al. Influence of whole-body vibration time on peri-implant bone healing: a histomorphometrical animal study. *J Clin Periodontol* 2011;38(2):180-5.
- Ogawa T, Zhang X, Naert I, et al. The effect of whole-body vibration on peri-implant bone healing in rats. *Clin Oral Implants Res* 2011 22(3):302-7.
- 29. Sriram D, Jones A, Alatli-Burt I, Darendeliler MA. Effects of mechanical stimuli on adaptive remodeling of condylar cartilage. *J Dent Res* 2009;88(5):466-70.
- 30. Sandu E, Miles JD, Dahners LE, Keller BV, Weinhold PS. Whole body vibration increases area and stiffness of the flexor carpi ulnaris tendon in the rat. *J Biomech*. 2011;44(6):1189-91.
- 31. Hwang SJ, Lublinsky S, Seo YK, Kim IS, Judex S. Extremely smallmagnitude accelerations enhance bone regeneration: a preliminary study. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2009;467(4):1083-91.
- 32. Butler MS, Robertson WW Jr., Rate W, et al. Skeletal sequelae of radiation therapy for malignant childhood tumors. *Clin Orthop* 1990;251:235-40.
- 33. Goldwein JW. Effects of radiation therapy on skeletal growth in childhood. *Clin Orthop* 1991;262:101-7.
- 34. Gonzalez DG, Breur K. Clinical data from irradiated growing long bones in children. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1983;9:841-6.
- 35. Kroll SS, Woo SY, Santin A, et al. Long-term effects of radiotherapy administered in childhood for the treatment of malignant diseases. *Ann Surg Oncol* 1994;1:473-9.
- Robertson WW Jr., Butler MW, D'Angio GJ, et al. Leg length discrepancy following irradiation for childhood tumors. *J Pediatr Orthop* 1991;11:284-7.
- 37. Spadaro JA, Baesl MT, Conta AC, Margulies BM, Damron TA. Effects of Irradiation on the Appositional and Longitudinal Growht of the Tibia and Fibula of the Rat with and Without Radioprotectant. *J Ped Orthopedics* 2003 23:35-40.
- Xie L, Jacobsen M, Choi ES, et al. Low-level mechanical vibrations can influence bone resorption and bone formation in the growing skeleton. *Bone* 2006;39:1059-66.
- 39. Xie L, Rubin C, Judex S. Enhancement of the adolescent murine musculoskeletal system using low-level mechanical vibrations. *J Appl Physiol* 2008;104:1056-62.
- 40. Reyes ML, Hernandez M, Holmgren LJ, Sanhueza E, Escobar RG. Highfrequency, low-intensity vibrations increase bone mass and muscle strength in upper limbs, improving autonomy is disabled children. *J Bone Miner Res* 2011:26(8):1759-66.

- 41. Ward K, Alsop C, Caulton J, et al. Low magnitude mechanical loading is osteogenic in children with disabling conditions. *J Bone Miner Res* 2004;19:360-9.
- 42. Wren TA, Lee DC, Hara R, et al. Effect of high-frequency, low-magnitude vibration on bone and muscle in children with cerebral palsy. *J Pediatr Orthop* 2010;30(7):732-8.
- 43. Damron TA, Tamurian RM, Spadaro JA. Combined effects of fractionation and radioprotection in sparing of radiation induced epiphyseal damage. *Proc Connec Tissue Oncol Society 5th Annu Sci Meeting* 1999;5.
- 44. Damron TA, Margulies B, Biskup D, Spadaro JA. Amifostine before fractionated irradiation protects bone growth in rats better than fractionation alone. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2001;50:479–483.
- 45. Damron TA, Mathur S, Horton JA, et al. Temporal changes in PTHrP, Bcl-2, Bax, Caspase, TGF-B, and FGF-2 expression following growth plate irradiation with or without radioprotectant. *J of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry* 2004;52(2):157-67.
- 46. Eifel PJ. Decreased bone growth arrest in weanling rats with multiple radiation fractions per day. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1988;15:141–145.
- 47. Eifel PJ, Sampson CM, Tucker SL. Radiation fractionation sensitivity of epiphyseal cartilage in a weanling rat model. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1990;19:661–664.
- 48. Ueki M, Tanaka N, Kotaro T, et al. The effect of mechanical loading on the metabolism of growth plate chondrocytes. *J Biomed Engineering Soc* 2008;36:793-800.
- 49. Othman H, Thonar EJ, Mao JJ. Modulation of neonatal growth plate development by ex vivo intermittent mechanical stress. *J Biomech* 2007;40:2686-93.
- 50. Ktintscher MV, Juran S, Menke H, et al. The role of pre-ischaemic application of the nitric oxide donor spermine/nitric oxide complex in enhancing flap survival in a rat model. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery* 2002;55:430-433.
- 51. Stewart JM, Karman C, Montgomery LD, McLeod KJ. Plantar vibration improves leg fluid flow in perimenopausal women. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 2005;288:623-629.
- 52. Madhaven G, Stewart, JM, McLeod KJ. Effect of Plantar Micromechanical Stimulation on Cardiovascular Responses to Immobility. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 2005;84(5):338-345.
- 53. Madhavan G, Stewart JM, McLeod KJ. Cardiovascular Systemic Regulation by Plantar Surface Stimulation. *Biomed Instr Tech* 2006;40(1):78-84.
- 54. Mendez-Ferrer S, Michurina TV, Ferraro F, et al. Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. *Nature* 2010;466:829-34.

- 55. Doube M, Kłosowski MM, Arganda-Carreras I, et al. BoneJ: free and extensible bone image analysis in ImageJ. *Bone* 2010;47:1076-9.
- 56. Abercromby AF, Amonette WE, Layne CS, McFarlin BK, Hinman MR, Paloski WH. Vibration exposure and biodynamic responses during whole-body vibration training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2007;39(10):1794-800.
- 57. Lynch M, Brondt M, Matthew S. Skeletal effects of whole-body vibration in adult and aged mice. *J Orthop Res* 2010;28:241-247.
- 58. Stuermer EK, Komrakova M, Werner C, et al. Musculoskeletal response to whole-body vibration during fracture healing in intact and ovariectomized rats. *Calcified Tissue International* 2010;87:168-80.
- 59. Brouwers JE, van Rietbergen B, Ito K, Huiskes R. Effects of vibration treatment on tibial bone of ovariectomized rats analyzed by in vivo micro-CT. *J Orthop Res* 2010;28:62-9.
- 60. Slatkovska L, Alibhai SMH, Beyene J, Hu H, Demaras A, Cheung AM. Effect of 12 months of whole-body vibration therapy on bone density and structure in postmenopausal women. *Ann Intern Med* 2011;155(10):668-79.
- Christiansen BA, Kotiya AA, Silva MJ. Constrained tibial vibration does not produce an anabolic bone response in adult mice. *Bone* 2009;45(4):750-9.
- 62. Lynch MA, Brodt MD, Stephens AL, Civitelli R, Silva MJ. Lowmagnitude whole-body vibration does not enhance the anabolic skeletal effects of intermittent PTH in adult mice. *J Orthop Res* 2011;29(4):465-72.
- 63. Kotiya AA, Kayly PV, Silva MJ. Short-term low-strain vibration enhances chemo-transport yet does not stimulate osteogenic gene expression or cortical bone formation in adult mice. *Bone* 2011;48(3)468-75.
- 64. Lau E, Lee WD, Li J, et al. Effect of low-magnitude, high-frequency vibration on osteogenic differentiation of rat mesenchymal stromal cells. *J Orthop Res* 2011;29(7):1075-80.
- 65. Judex X, Zhong N, Squire ME, et al. Mechanical modulation of molecular signals which regulate anabolic and catabolic activity in bone tissue. *J Cell Biochem* 2005;94(5):982-94.
- 66. Wenger KH, Freeman JD, Fulzele S, et al. Effect of whole-body vibration on bone properties in aging mice. *Bone* 2010;47:746-55.
- 67. Cardinale M, Wakeling J. Whole body vibration exercise: are vibrations good for you? *Br J Sports med* 2005;39:585-589.
- 68. You L, Temiyasathit S, Lee P, et al. Osteocytes as mecanosensors in the inhibition of bone resportion due to mechanical loading. *Bone* 2008;42(1):172-9.
- 69. Lau E, Al-Dujaili S, Guenther A, Liu D, Wang L, You L. Effect of lowmagnitude, high-frequency vibration on osteocytes in the regulation of osteoclasts. *Bone* 2010;46(6):1508-15.
- 70. Zhou Y, Guan X, Zhu Z, et al. Osteogenic differentiation of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stromal cells on bone-derived scaffolds: effect of

microvibration and role of ERK1/2 activation. *Eur Cell Mater* 2011;22:12-25.

Summary of Capstone Project

Radiotherapy, the medical use of ionizing radiation, is an important part of cancer therapy, used in addition to surgery for treatment of patients with soft tissue sarcomas, a cancer that arises from damaged cells of mesenchymal (germ layers) origin in connective tissue, and alternatively for treatment of patients with Ewing sarcoma of bone, a type of malignant round-cell tumor that arises in the bone. Treating pediatric extremity tumors with radiotherapy has been shown to have harmful effects on the epiphyseal plate (growth plate), resulting in permanent limb shortening and deformity when bone growth centers are exposed to radiation. Mechanical signals, specifically low-magnitude high-frequency vibrations (LMHFV), have been shown to be non-invasive and nonpharmacological growth factors in bone that have the potential to serve as a safe treatment for a number of clinical conditions, such as osteoporosis deterrence, fracture healing, muscle strengthening, orthodontic and craniofacial repair, tendon healing and connective tissue regeneration. Thus, this study was aimed at evaluating the possible beneficial effects of low-magnitude high-frequency mechanical vibration (LMHFV) stimuli applied to growing bone after irradiation and the possibility for restoration of function of the epiphyseal plate by LMHFV, a research topic that has never before been published in the literature.

Eighteen 3-week old young male albino rats were subjected to a standard radiation dose applied to right hind limbs, with the left leg serving as a non-irradiated control. Then, the animals were divided into three groups: A) rats

subjected to LMHFV only for 20 minutes once per day, 7 days/week, for 3 weeks, *B*) rats subjected to the same conditions of LMHFV plus an injection of spermine NONOate, a post-irradiation recovery agent that has shown weak positive results in this lab, and *C*) rats subjected to no treatment. After euthanizing the animals, skeletal growth of all eighteen animals was measured by taking x-rays and measuring bone lengths. Bone shape and form was measured by performing micro-CT scans of one set of femora from one animal in each group and comparing different sections and aspects of the three-dimensional images that were generated. Also, a colony-forming unit-fibroblasts (CFU-F) assay was performed on the femora of three animals from each group in order to measure the potential for stem cells flushed from femora bone marrow to mature into osteoblasts, the cells responsible for bone formation.

X-ray and CFU-F analyses show statistically significant differences between right and left limbs in all groups, showing that radiation inhibited skeletal growth and the formation of mature osteoblasts in all animals, as expected, since radiation has been shown to cause deformity in bone. No statistical significance was observed between vibration versus control groups, but trends suggest there could be some positive effect of vibration, although not statistically significant, showing that vibration did not recover the effects of radiation in groups subjected to vibration after radiation compared to the control group in a statistically significant manner, but trends do show weak positive effects of vibration. Micro-CT results show a clear difference between right and left limbs in all groups, also showing that radiation changed the shape and form of limbs subjected to radiation versus control limbs. Regarding vibration versus control groups, micro-CT results are ambiguous, but do suggest that vibration may have altered local growth characteristics and stimulated local shape changes in the 20% region from the distal end of the femur, just above the growth plate, showing that vibration may have recovered some damage caused by radiation, but more animals are needed to substantiate this result (only one set of femora from one animal of each group was compared).

Despite the number of positive reports of LMHFV on bone, the present study did not reveal a clear, statistically significant effect on growth, structure or MSC colony formation. Thus, the effects of vibrational loading on irradiated growing bone are still unclear. However, findings in this paper suggest that LMHFV may have a weak positive effect, although this cannot be said with any statistical certainty. Thus, LMHFV applied to irradiated growing bone still has the possibility for restoration of function of the epiphyseal plate, but more studies on the effects of LMHFV on irradiated growing bone are needed in order to delineate the findings of this paper.